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Abstract  

 

My project is entitled The City has Changed Them: Storytelling, Memory, and the Family 

Photo Album. It is an interdisciplinary work that consists of five parts. Four of the parts have an 

analytical component as well as a personal story to accompany them. Along with the writings 

there are also seventeen images from one of my familyôs photo albums. The purpose of the 

project is to locate a family through memoir and photos, and trace them through the American 

phenomenon known as the Great Migration. I used my maternal grandmother, Malqueen 

Goldsmith, and my father, James Woods, as anchors to the memoir pieces. I outline their 

departure from the south, their subsequent relocation to New York City, their search for work, 

interactions within their own communities and the larger social context in which they lived and 

raised a family from the mid-1940s to roughly 1975. The purpose of the project is for the 

researcher to view the African American family photo album as a serious historical object. I 

believe it to be an historical artifact as well as a visual record that warrants the same serious study 

as other more traditional historical objects.  
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Figure 1. Picture of my photo album that Iôve ñborrowedò from my parents. Itôs missing its front 

cover, and the comb binding is almost non existent. 
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Preface 

At Home in the World 

 

We shined like the new things we were. 

ð Patricia Smith 

 

My first camera was a Kodak Ekralite 10 with a built in flash and a strap that never 

would stay firmly on my wrist. The camera came with a roll of 110 mm film and two AA 

batteries that I eagerly stuffed into the back of it as fast as I could and then waited impatiently for 

the low whine and the orange light that told me the flash was ready.  It was the only present I 

played with that day.  

I was 10, and it was Christmas, 1979.  

Most of the photos I took that day are of my mother cooking chitlins, baking cakes, 

stuffing the turkey and mixing potato salad. Thereôs one of my father vacuuming with his 

headphones on, probably listening to Miles Davis or Charlie Parker. The rest are of my extended 

family, cousins, aunts, uncles, and grandparents sandwiched together in our living room, not 

minding the closeness of bodies or the heat radiating from our thick beige wall-to-wall carpet. 

Rum, vodka and Harveyôs Bristol Cream flowed freely in heavy glass tumblers among oversized 

pillows and royal blue plastic covered sofa. The children snatched cheese doodles and potato 

chips from the coffee table, and ran back to the den with their goodies, without the adults ever 

seeing.  

Even though every one of my first pictures turned out blurry, when I picked up my prints 

from the drugstore later that week, I thought they were masterpieces. I remember smiling all the 

way home in the car. With this batch of badly-taken pictures, I had been officially baptized into 

the unofficial hobby of my parents and their friendsðphotography. 
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As long as I can remember my parents owned cameras. They were always big and bulky 

with zoom lenses and numerous shutter adjustments. They had huge black itchy straps that clung 

to their necks and gave them the appearance of a National Geographic photographer, even when 

we were only at the Bronx Zoo. My parents loved these machines. They tinkered with the speeds, 

adjusted the light, the portable flashes, the shutters, anything to make the picture better. Over the 

years the mix of Cannons, Pentaxes, and Nikons have gone from neck, to closet, to box to storage 

unit. And in the empty place were always bigger and better cameras that eventually became 

digital. 

For my father and mother, the camera became a tool to verify that the dreams they had 

whispered to one another before they were married had actually come true.  And those dreams 

always included their family, friends, homes, cars, jobs, sports, vacations, and especially their 

only child. The pictures were a visual pinch to the arm to prove that they existed in a world that 

sometimes chose to deny their existence. And more importantly the pictures from those cameras 

breathed life into dreams that were hatched on the back seat of a Greyhound bus in 1960 and in 

the Jim Crow rail car of the Silver Meteor in 1948. The photos are also proof of a life lived well 

and proudly by my parents.   

 My family photos are also a map, a starting point for me and future generations of what 

the African American family looks like, not what it could look like, but what it does look like. 

Our family album, and others like it, act as a foil against the negative and cruel visualizations of 

what African Americans can and have been represented as: animalistic, childlike, unintelligent, 

and violent.1 Instead my album shows the real and beautiful life of one family.  Not every picture 

is a happy one. The photos are of pensive, confused, enlightened, surprised (not all in a good 

way), and sometimes clearly angry people. But taken as a collection, the images serve as a 

                                                        
1 Willis, Deborah. p. 17   Willis argues that vernacular photographers used the medium to challenge 

stereotypes that showed blacks as subordinates to whites. Blacks subverted the representations by offering 

alternatives images that were positive and reaffirming. These representations were closer to the way black 

lives were truly lived. 
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resource on how a life can be fashioned through reinvention, by bringing parts of a past with you 

in your suitcase and molding them like clay into the sculpture you want to see.   
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Figure 2. Living Room at 949 East 214th street, Bronx, New York around 1971 
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This picture (figure 2) is one of my favorites. Iôm not sure who took it. It might have been 

my father, just testing one of his many cameras. Or my motherôs cousin Leon, who lived with us 

until I was two and was also an amateur photographer. But the photo, feels like it was probably 

taken by my mother, simply because of the huge urn of fake flowers in the photo. I donôt have a 

solid reasoning behind why the flowers are in the photo, I just donôt feel my father or Leon would 

have cared much about them, but my mother would have, and still does. 

Itôs strange that I like this picture, because as a child this was a room I was never allowed 

to spend time in. It was a room reserved solely for adults. My parents placed an unspoken but 

hefty value on this room and the objects in it. The weight of it was perceptible to anyone who 

ever came to visit us. And yet, forty years later whenever I look at this photograph, I can still see 

the raucous holiday parties, hear my father humming the latest Modern Jazz Quartet album, and 

the sounds of my motherôs low laughter as she gossiped with my grandmother on the phone. 

The photo isnôt mine, really. Iôve borrowed it. ñStolenò might be a better word. And I 

havenôt been kind to it. There are creases throughout the photo that have comefrom looking at it 

too many times. Thereôs a pen mark on the back from the errant pens I keep in my handbag as 

well. The imperfect way I treat the photo might have something to do with the photo itself. Itôs 

perfect. I stare at this perfect, quiet room and feel lonely afterwards. The room is too clean and 

looks like we donôt even live there. Itôs as if historian Tina Campt has this room in mind when 

she writes, ñPhotography captures a given moment in the life of an individual while at the same 

time offering a means of creating an image of our lives and selves as we would like to be seen.ò2  

There was never a time in my life that my family didnôt want to be seen as perfect to outsiders.  

Even in the photo, perfection is sewn into the neat heavy brocaded cream fabric curtains with 

tremendous blue roses to match the plastic covered satin loveseat.  While a perfect picture child 

version of myself sits in the midst, watching. 

 

                                                        
2  Campt, p.5 
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Figure 3.  Erica at 2 years old, Daddyôs closet. 949 East 214th Street, Bronx New York. 1971 
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This picture (figure 3) is one of scores of baby pictures my mother took of me for my 

father while he was at work. Itôs another picture that has seen a lot of wear. Thereôs a tear on the 

bottom and the corners are a little scuffed. My mom has dozens of pictures of me at this age 

throughout the house in various spaces and in many of our family albums. She says that when I 

was this age, around two I guess, my favorite place to be was in my fatherôs closet. My closest 

guess as to why is that I missed him and there was lots of junk in his closet for a two year old to 

get into. (I imagine now that someone would have called Child Protective Services on my parents 

for having me in a closet, but it was the 1970s.  I also sat the backseats of cars without a car seat 

or seatbelt, rode a bike without a helmet, and drank whole milk, but somehow I survived.) My 

fatherôs shoe shine box is to the left, opened, most likely by me, and torn apart, again, most likely 

by me. His shoe shine brush is turned upside down, and the chamois cloth is exposed, as is his 

brown polish for his favorite shoes. Even as Iôm writing this, I can smell the odor that is the 

distinct acridness of shoe polish as it wafts out of that small brass can. And whether his shoes 

were brown, black, or blue, the shoe polish was always the Kiwi  brand. It also seems there is an 

important call I can take only in my pajamas, with the company of a canister vacuum cleaner and 

the hanging sleeves of my fatherôs jackets, shirts, and suits hovering over me. The closet was my 

home and at the same time it wasnôt. 

When I talk to my mother about this photograph her thoughts are not as complex as mine, 

ñYou were just a child who liked to play in the closetò 3 is her response to the question of why I 

loved to be in Daddyôs closet. But my motherôs reading of the photograph doesnôt explain why I 

think of this photo so much. And why I have decided it should explain the complicated 

relationship my father and I have. So I continue to cling to this image. And like bell hooks, I 

believe that this is one of the photos that ñprovides a way for me to know him [my father] that 

makes it possible to love him again, and past all the other images, the ones that stand in the way 

                                                        
3 hooks, p. 44.  hooks talks here how she and her sisters ñreadò a photograph of her father very differently 

because of their relationship to him. In my case I read this photograph in terms of my complex relationship 

with my father and my mother doesnôt ñreadò the photograph the same way.   
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of love.ò4 I only wish you could preserve the feelings as you do the look of the moment in the 

photograph. 

 Most of the photographs of my family and friends are taken in the Northeast Bronx in the 

late 1960s to mid-1980s, an area that stands in sharp relief to the burnt out shells and blight that 

were (and sometimes still are) broadcast on nightly newscasts across the country or in movies like 

Fort Apache, the Bronx. I lived a fairly happy life, more like Ossie and Harriet or Leave it to 

Beaver than Good Times or even The Wire.  Our first house was one of many private houses 

owned  or rented by migrants from the American South, Europe, and the Caribbean.  All the 

adults worked during the day, the children under five stayed with grandmothers or aunties on the 

days when they didnôt have ñdayôs work,ò5 and the older children went to ñgoodò schools in the 

neighborhood and sometimes beyond the neighborhood.  

Our narrow, tall private house at 949 E. 214th St., was my home for the first five years of 

my life. My mom was a nurse and my dad an office worker. When I was six, we moved ten 

minutes away to a co-op building where my grandfather was the porter or janitor and my 

grandmother did dayôs work for many of the tenants. Instead of the factory workers, bus drivers, 

and construction workers who lived with us on 214th, we now lived with postal workers, nurses, 

teachers, a few college professors, office managers, social workers, and laboratory operators. I 

suppose we were ñmoving on upò like the family in the 1970s sitcom the Jeffersons. We lived 

there in relative happiness for almost thirty years.  

 

 

 

 

                                                        
4 hooks, p.44 
5 When Grandmothers and aunties were unavailable, men who were out of work, or youngster who were 

not in school watched the children, albeit not quite as closely as the women. But for me, my grandmother, 

one of my aunts, or one of the dozens of female friends of my motherôs were always available. I never 

spent any time being watched by a male family member.  
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Figure 4. Daddy and John Wilkins (his father), Cleveland Tennessee. October 1939 
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One Way Ticket 

 
I pick up my life 

And take it away 

On a one-way ticketð 

Gone up North, 

Gone out West, 

Gone! 
ðLangston Hughes 

My familyôs arrival to the Bronx was a result of both sides participating in the greatest 

voluntary movement of Americans in the twentieth century, the Great Migration. They were part 

of the six million blacks who left the South and moved to other parts of the country, most notably 

to the urban areas of New York City, Philadelphia, Boston, Washington, D.C., Chicago, Newark, 

New Jersey, Gary, Indiana, Cleveland, Ohio, and St. Louis, Missouri.6  The first major wave of 

the migration started right after World War I, when blacks were used to substitute for European 

immigrants in Northern factories.7.   

My familyôs story starts during the second wave of the migration from 1940 to 1970. My 

maternal grandparents and mother made their journey in 1948 from Branchville, South Carolina, 

and my father travelled to Harlem from Cleveland, Tennessee in 1960.  They were part of a 

movement that was epic in scope,  yet largely ignored and downplayed by sociologists and 

historians as it was happening8, even though as the historian Ira Berlin notes,  

The 1.5 million black migrants who departed the region [the South] during the 1940s 

more than equaled the sum total of those who left the South during the previous three 

decades, and the migration continued in the decades, that followedéThe three million 

black men and women who exited the South between 1940 and 1960 almost doubled the 

number who left between 1910 and 1930.9 

                                                        
6 Wilkerson, p. 9 
7 Grossman, p. 3 
8 Wilkerson, p. 539  
9 Berlin, Ira. p. 155 
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How could a group of people be overlooked as they were shifting the economic, social , and 

political balance of the country?  Why didnôt politicians, sociologists and other academics ñseeò 

the movement of African American families as an important historical moment? 

Like many families, my family was fleeing a Jim Crow system that constricted the 

movements of black people and was delayed from being overthrown due to McCarthyism. 10 This 

delay retarded the economic,growth and political and social progress of the South for decades, 

fostering spaces of division and inequality for blacks in the South. As historian Grace Hale 

explains,  

the construction of a culture of segregation enabled southern European Americans to 

identify their place in an American nation that was fast becoming modern. To hold the 

Negroes to a lower status was to help lift white southerners, with their regional inferiority 

complexes, to a false level of equality with northern white brethren.11  

The blacks who lived and loved the land of the South became unwitting victims of a system they 

had no vested power in, and therefore had no say in what happened. Instead of continuing to fight 

the overt and discrete forms of Jim Crow, my family decided to leave the South behind and 

hopefully find salvation in the North. 

 Itôs this ñmomentò that Iôm fascinated with. How do my familyôs actions intersect with 

this historical moment? How does my family make the decision to leave everything theyôve ever 

known and everything theyôve earned to go to a world that is completely foreign to them? And 

then choose to fashion themselves into Northerners? Did they transform themselves or did they 

just adapt?   

I think they did both. 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                        
10 Biondi, p. 275 
11 Hale, p. 183 
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Figure 5. Postcard from South Carolina, courtesy of the Rubenstein Library, Duke University 
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The Silver Meteor: Malqueen 

 

They Say itôs better up There.  

ð Patricia Smith 

 

Winter 1948 / Charleston, South Carolina to Penn Station 

She was 29 now, and had had her share of heartbreak. At 14, she had lost her mother to a 

mysterious disease, and had to give up her dreams of being a schoolteacher and living in the city 

with her aunt. Instead she returned to Branchville to a father who was clueless about raising 

children or balancing checkbooks.  At 26, her twins were born dead and she had been shaken so 

badly by it she wasnôt sure if she wanted to live or die. There was no doctor to go to, no hospital 

that wouldôve taken her. 

 And now she was leaving the only home sheôd ever known on the Silver Meteor. The train 

that took all the Negroes outta the South. She was bound for the unknown. Sheôd heard all about 

the route. Her brothers had left years before. Two had joinedthe army and another left the 

indignities of the South and their father. Her sister Sarah had taken this same train two years 

before when she got married and went to New York City, so she wouldnôt be alone when they got 

there. But it wouldnôt be the same as being at her house with Haroldôs mother, whom she called, 

ñMomma.ò They wouldnôt be together in the house anymore, laughing and cooking, and going to 

Mays Chapel. She wouldnôt have a house again for a long time.  

 The coat she had on was too long and hung onto the floor. Her sister-in-law had sent it 

for Christmas last year. They never could remember that she wasnôt even 5 feet tall. They were 

all giants. Her feet werenôt even touching the floor of the rail car. But her good suit was getting 

ruint by the hair oil in Betty Maeôs hair and the drool from Toots, the baby. Everybody else in the 

car was talking, laughing, looking out the window, excited like they were going to the fair. She 

didnôt know anybody here. She was alone. Her lipstick had long smeared off, and the curl in her 

hair was flattening out. And her pantyhose were falling down. All this and juggling a six year old 
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and an infant into comfortable positions, while she kept the tears from forming. This was 

supposed to be a happy time. There were only good things in New York. Good things. 

Maybe going to New York wouldnôt be too bad. At least they werenôt going back to 

Philadelphia. She hadnôt minded Philadelphia so much, but Harold had hated it. And when he 

hated something he made everybody miserable. They didnôt have Toots then. Only Betty Mae and 

Harold Jr. They slipped out of Haroldôs sister Maryôs house while she was at work, and caught 

the train back to Orangeburg. She had hated that they left Maryôs house that way. Mary had been 

so good to them, but Harold would not be talked out of leaving. He couldnôt find a job, and he 

didnôt want to work in the post office with his four older brothers. His brothers and sisters there 

thought they acted too country and werenôt smart.. They always had to prove themselves. And 

Harold had had enough. When Harold made up his mind, there was no talking sense to him, it 

was easier to pack all their things, the children and just leave. It was 1946, Junior was a baby, 

Betty Mae was 4, the twins were still dead, and to make matters worse they had to sit in the 

Colored car when they arrived in Washington, DC..   

 When they returned to Branchville, things had changed. And living there went from 

bearable to horrible. She endured the indignity of living in the sharecropper shack because their 

own house had been rented out, and she endured the long searches for jobs. But then Junior got 

polio from one of their neighbors. One day he had a fever, and the next day he couldnôt walk. 

Suddenly living in Branchville had become like a strait jacket. If it hadnôt been for Momma and 

the church folks she surely would have gone insane.  Junior was placed in the big community 

hospital in Orangeburg (Mama arranged with the folks that ran things in the county to get him a 

bed.) Then somehow she got someone to drive them to Charleston with Junior to get better help. 

She didnôt know what Momma had promised those folks, but she worked miracles for Junior. But 

the hospital bills were building, and their saving drained. Something drastic had to happen.  

ñThey say thereôs lots of jobs in New York.ò 

ñWhoôs they? 
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ñYour sisters.ò 

ñHmmphò 

ñHarold,ò Momma said, ñEnough. There ainôt nothinô here no moô. You tried.ò 

It was settled, Harold would go and find work. Heôd have to leave again.  

This time heôd go to New York. 

Heôd go first. Heôd send for them later.   

This was later.  

 

The train slugged up the tracks and Betty Mae in her pretty dress slept and the baby was 

getting fidgety. She was too. This time it had to work. Harold could not be impatient and stubborn 

this time. There was too much at stake. New York had to be their new home. Her children had to 

have a stable place to live Junior had to have hospitals and doctors that didnôt care that he was a 

black boy, just that he was sick. She was giving up her church, her friends, her ñplace.ò She was 

going from being a landowner to be a tenant. She was sacrificing her life. He had to sacrifice too. 

This had to work. Sheôd leave the ground she loved to someone else if it meant her children would 

have a better life. Harold was stubborn, but so was she. 

 They were going to stay with Maggie, Haroldôs older sister, the sweet one. Maggie doted 

on her, Betty Mae and the baby and told her not to mind the other sisters and brothers. Maggie 

and Momma were the only ones who stood up for her. Even Harold would forget sometimes, 

especially when he was too busy being the ñbaby of the family.ò 

 In Philadelphia, the only thing that mattered to Haroldôs family, the Goldsmiths, was 

living on Woodstock Street and erasing their memories of the South. They all said, ñLet the South 

be buried.ò They had lived in the North so long that they didnôt even consider themselves 

Southerners anymore. But she couldnôt bury the South. She wouldnôt bury it. His brothers may 

have had ñgoodò jobs in the post office, four Goldsmith boys working in the post office, but 

Harold was different, he was meant to work on the land. It was the one thing he did better than 
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most and the ruling white folks of the county wouldnôt allow him to do it. Even Momma couldnôt 

get them to change their minds on their ñrules.ò Every time he brought the produce to the market 

place in the wagon they ignored him, or they gave him pennies for all his hard work. They treated 

him like he was a sharecropper. But they werenôt sharecroppers! They owned their own land. 

They had the deed. But it was their skin that was the difference. She knew that. So did Harold. 

Maybe New York wouldnôt care so much about their skin, or at least have the good manners to 

ignore it. She hoped he would get work soon. She needed her own kitchen, her own stove, her own 

hat rack, even if there were only two rooms she needed it to be theirs and theirs alone. 

 The windows of the train shook and she looked around the dark, cold rail car. All these 

people are going too. Are they scared too? She adjusted all their coats. It was winter time. Almost 

Christmas. The seats were lumpy and her back ached while she held Toots, but she still smiled. 

Theyôd spend their first Christmas in New York. She opened the big bag next to her and in it were 

the shoeboxes that Momma had made for them filled with food. Everyone on the train had a 

shoebox filled with fried chicken, pieces of pie, cornbread or biscuits, anything to keep their 

stomachs from grumbling through the ride. She picked at the food and looked out the windows 

and counted the stops from Charleston until Penn Station. Looking out at the rocks and dirt speed 

by her, she knew sheôd never go back to the South to live again.   

 But in Branchville she had known people, had things, and had lived on land that was 

owned by black folks. In New York she would live in a box. But she wouldnôt go back. Better to 

live in a box than to be disrespected and starve on your own land 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 18 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 6. Nana (Malqueen). On Rye beach 1963 with family friends. 
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Figure 7. Granddaddy (Harold) on his way to my christening, February 1970 
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Up South 

The picture of my grandmother at Rye Beach in 1963 (figure 6) is the earliest picture of 

her that I have. Itôs actually the earliest photo of her that our entire family has. Itôs also the most 

candid photo. My grandmother was a formal woman who sometimes wore white gloves and 

kitten heels to her dayôs work. She never sat on the floor, or leaned on walls, or stood without a 

straight back. It could have been because she was only 4ô 10ò and didnôt want to seem smaller 

than she already was. But more than likely it was because of the training she received from her 

mother and aunt as a young girl. Seeing her in a bathing suit for the first time, I blushed. My 

grandmother didnôt enjoy the camera, and was an expert at avoiding the lens.  But the really 

amazing aspect of the photo for my entire family is that my grandmother is sitting leisurely on the 

sand. For a long time my mother and I refused to believe it was her and thought it was her sister 

Sara instead. But itôs her. She is relaxed, with the faint smile she usually wore when she was in 

her own world and barely listening to you. She wore that smile often when my grandfather spoke 

or went on a tirade about dinner, being tired or the Mets losing the baseball game. And even in 

this relaxed moment, there is no hair out of place, her legs are tucked demurely behind her and I 

imagine that thereôs a warm breeze on her legs. She is savoring the sun on her legs with her 

youngest son Michael in front of her. Itôs the first and only time I see her loosen her impervious 

mask of respectability and dignity.  

My grandmotherôs mask was a defense mechanism to the de facto Jim Crow laws that led 

to my grandparentsô decision to leave the land they had worked for years and move to New York 

City. They were both the last of their respective families to leave. My grandfatherôs siblings had 

moved to either Philadelphia or New York. In Philadelphia five of his siblings lived on the same 

street and two of his sisters lived within blocks of one another in the Bronx.  Many of the men in 

my family took advantage of wars and drafts and left the South never to return, while some of my 

aunts and female cousins married and left with their husbands hoping to find work when they 
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arrived. Then there were also many women in my family who just went to the North on their 

own.12 It was surprising that my grandfatherôs and grandmotherôs family left the south. They were 

all landowners and in some cases had professional careers. But they were not immune to white 

supremacy or to the political, social, and economic hold that whites had over the South. As Ira 

Berlin makes clear,  

Behind the hammer blows of economic change stood the regionôs seemingly  

immutable commitment to white supremacy. Represented most horrifically by the 

broken, mutilated bodies that swayed from a lynch noose, the protocols of white 

supremacy were embedded in the most commonplace acts of everyday life.13 

So they left the south, hoping that they would no longer  have to worry about violence, hate and 

the intimidation they endured every day. 

For my grandfather the intersection of everyday life and white supremacy occurred when 

he attempted to be a farmer in Branchville and sell his produce at market. Unlike his brothers who 

became soldiers and then postal workers in Philadelphia, he had always wanted to be a farmer. He 

had always worked with his hands and was most at ease when he was toiling in the dark South 

Carolina soil. But he constantly had to tell people outside of Branchville that he wasnôt a 

sharecropper, which was difficult because so many Black farmers in that region and in the most 

of the south were. Most independent white farmers had agents or people who would help them 

sell their products at market 14and since my grandfather didnôt have one he was forced to sell his 

produce himself. He was blocked in the markets because of his skin color and he could never 

make enough money to feed his growing family. The inability to feed hisfamily wasnôt just about 

economics,, it was also about pride. The idea of being an American male was embodied in the 

ability to feed and clothe your children and take care of them with your hard work. My 

grandfather had grown up in a middle class Black family; it confused him to now be considered 

                                                        
12 Berlin, p. 160 
13 Berlin, p. 163 
14 Grossman, p.51 
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poor. He was a formal man who took pride in his appearance, and never wanted for money 

(Figure 7). It wasnôt unusual for him to wear dress pants and a tie, or to have his hair cut every 

week. Formality was a uniform that he wore regularly and wore well. He believed it was 

necessary to dress well in order to repel the many rejections by the whites who thought he was 

trying to be more than he should be. And Goldsmiths just did some things differently than other 

people. To be denied a chance through no fault of his own was unacceptable to him. The choice 

had to be made.whether to stay in South Carolina or to go to a northern city where there was 

work.  

And then the conversation,/which never changes, even over the childrenôs squeals:/They 

say itôs better up there, it begins, and it is always /the woman who says this, and the man 

lowers his head/to the table and feels the day collapse beneath his shirt.15 

The woman who came up with the plan was not my grandmother, Malqueen, but my 

grandfatherôs mother, Lara. She thought it was time to close up the house and move to 

Philadelphia, to leave the South to be with the rest of her family.  

 So while Branch Rickey and Jackie Robinson were integrating Major League Baseball in 

194616; Harold and Malqueen, my mother, her brother and my great-grandmother Lara, got on the 

Silver Meteor headed for Philadelphia.  

 Philadelphia was a cultural shock to them.  They moved in with Mary, Haroldôs oldest 

sister who worked in an office as a secretary. And every day my grandfather went to look for 

work. His four other brothers: Stanford, Leroy, Samuel, and Alonzo all worked in some capacity 

at the post office. The post office jobs had allowed them to obtain a new type of living in the 

North, a taste of an established  middle class. As Isabel Wilkerson notes in Warmth of Other 

Suns, my great uncles and aunts were part of ña solid though tenuous middle class of Pullman 

porters, postal workers, ministers, and business men who were anxious to keep the status and 

                                                        
15 Smith, Patricia. Shoulda been Jimi Savannah, ñFixing on the Next Starò p.5 
16 Biondi, p.34 
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gains they had won.ò17 And even though my uncles and aunts owned their own row houses they 

were still restricted to the black sections of Philadelphia. In my familyôs case, five of my 

grandfatherôs siblings lived on Woodstock Street, no more than two doors away from one 

another. As Wilkerson explains further, ñThe color line restricted them to the oldest housing in 

the least desirable section of town no matter what their class, but they had tried to make the best 

of it and had created a world within a world for themselves.ò18   

 In Philadelphia, my grandmother tries to adapt as much as she can, but my grandfather 

has a difficult time. Heôs unable to work at the post office because unlike his brothers he hasnôt 

been in the Army, hasnôt finished high school and is unskilled. There are too many people and no 

one understands their accents. Their own family thinks they act too much life country folks and is 

constantly telling them how to act, how to dress and how to take care of their children. He has a 

hard time finding menial work in Philadelphia. Frustrated and broke they get back on the train, 

back to Branchville.   

 What my grandparents didnôt know  about Philadelphia is that there are strict, tacit 

systems regarding the employment of blacks in the city of Brotherly love. The ñPromised Landò 

has its own caste system that, while not as oppressive as the one they abandoned in South 

Carolina, is l constrictive and weighted towards whites and European immigrants. Many migrants 

began to say the North was ñUp Southò when they talked about Northern cities like Philadelphia. 

Cities that looked like they held promise, but still kept the remnants of southern racism.19 Even 

those blacks who did have jobs were treated poorly and discriminated against. Those who were 

able to get jobs outside of the domestic sphere (dayôs work, janitors, etc.) were constantly in fear 

of their jobs and faced daily discrimination. Even skin color seemed to be a job requirement for 

some,  

                                                        
17 Wilkerson, p.287 
18 Wilkerson, p. 287 
19 Countryman, p. 10 
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ñ Bendix Aviation had placed an order to federal governmentôs United States 

Employment Service (USES) for ñlight skinnedò women to work as matronséSun 

Shipbuilding in Chester, south of Philadelphia, had announced plans to hire 9,000 black 

workers but to maintain a rigidly segregated workplace.20        

My grandfather wasnôt the right color, didnôt have the right education and skills, and wasnôt 

wanted in Philadelphia. And like many, he decided that going home was the best, and only 

alternative for his family. At least in Branchville, he wouldnôt be fooled into believing he was 

equal. 

 While moving back to Branchville was not ideal for my mother and her parents, their 

decision to move back wasnôt unique. Many migrants made several attempts before deciding 

whether or not to stay in the North.21 This contradicts what many historians like James Gregory, 

who believe that ñBlack Southerners were much less interested in the órevolving door,ôò22 and 

remained in whatever city they first came to. While giving up on the South and never returning 

was an option for some migrants, especially men, Darlene Clark Hine notes that many migrants, 

especially women, couldnôt completely settle in the North because they often had children or 

elderly relatives still in the south who were dependent on them financially or for care. Many 

women would go back and forth many times, never able to fully commit to one place or another.23  

My grandfatherôs restlessness caused them financial and emotional stress. By 1948 they 

were compelled to get back on the train once again, come North. 

* * *  

                                                        
20 Countryman, p 29. These companies were also targets of the NAACP and other civil rights groups during 

the 1940 and ó50s. Unfortunately the NAACP victories came too late to help my grandfather. 
21 Wilkerson, p. 369-70 
22 Gregory, p.17 
23 Hine, p. 132.  Many women had two households to take care of until they could make a full transition to 

the North. It took my grandmother three trips to unite her family after they left Branchville in December 

1948. She had left her toddler son who was stricken with polio and couldnôt start work or create a regular 

schedule for her school age child (my mother who was 6) until she was able to get him and her mother-in-

law.  She dropped her mother-in-law in Philadelphia, then rode the rest of the way to New York with three 

small children by herself on the train. 
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 In a similar time and different place in the South, another young man is angry about the 

things heôs seen in his hometown and in the South and wonders what will happen to him if he 

stays in a place he loves and fears. 

 My father, James Woods, was a witness to southern civil rights history, as was any 

southerner who lived through the 1950s and 60s in the south.. For him this history was part of his 

formative years.  The events leading up to what is now known as the modern day civil rights 

movement were happening when my father was a teenager in Cleveland, Tennessee. And they 

were occurring, in some cases, to teenagers just like him. 

 In 1955, Emmett Till was killed for supposedly whistling and talking the wrong way to a 

white woman, in Mississippi. He was 14 years old and from Chicago.  His mangled and lynched 

body was put in an open casket by his mother so the world could see what was done to her son. A 

photograph of the murdered teen in his casket was in every black newspaper in the South as well 

as Jet magazine. My father was 16 years old, a sophomore in high school. When I was younger 

and asked him about it he said, ñEveryone knew about it, and they were mad. But there was 

nothing to do but be mad. Those crackers would kill you if you said anything about it. So we 

were all just mad at school and talked about how we would have killed those crackers if we had 

ever found them.ò 

 There were other events that played with the mind of a young man trying to understand 

why the constitution didnôt negate the white signs with black lettering he sees near his home,24 

downtown, and in every store, including the one his mother shops in on Wednesdays, the days 

Negroes were allowed to go downtown. A Black woman gets arrested in Montgomery, Alabama 

for not giving up her seat on the city bus to a White person in 1953. James is 14.  James is 15, 

when the court in Washington, DC says that black children can go to school with white children, 

but no one in Cleveland, TN makes it happen. Instead the governor refuses to compel local school 

                                                        
24 The signs Iôm referring to here are the white signs with black lettering that usually spelled out ñWHITES 

ONLYò, ñNO NEGROS SERVED HEREò or ñCOLORED ONLYò.  
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boards to comply with the law saying, ñIt [The Brown decision] did not purport to require the 

states to mix arbitrarily persons of different races in the schools.ò25   

 Even though some counties in Tennessee donôt offer high school educations to Blacks,26 

my father graduates from College Hill high school in Cleveland. Heôs the first high school 

graduate in his family. With his diploma in hand Daddy looks for work. The only work available 

is the work he had been doing before at the country club, collecting balls and caddying for the 

white judges, businessmen, and Church of God pastors. This is the club where they called him 

ñboyò and ñforgotò to tip him, and would routinely ask where his father was.  

 During my fatherôs adolescence, Clevelandôs protest movement is almost non-existent 

because of the presence of the Church of God (COG), an evangelical protestant church that is 

headquartered in Cleveland and is almost the only denomination in Cleveland. Like the public 

restrooms, the church in Cleveland, is segregated into a black COG and a white COG. The white 

COG doesnôt want the civil rights movement in Cleveland, so it convinces its black counterpart 

that itôs in the best interest of the black people of Cleveland to not get involved with these 

ñoutsiders.ò Every Sunday the parents of the young people are told to keep their young close and 

to douse  their anger or the meager jobs you have will be lost. 27 

 But the sit-in and protest movements come to Tennessee anyway. In 1955, folks in 

Tennessee are aware of the bus boycotts in Montgomery and during a time when the state denied 

blacks the opportunities to become bus drivers, mechanics or managers in any bus companies in 

the state. 28  In early 1960, on the heels of the unlawful prosecution of a black man in Burton 

County who was charged with killing a white deputy even though another deputy said he didnôt 

                                                        
25Lovett, p. 52  Although the governor does recognize that blacks are tax payers and should have access to 

equal education, he will not put any resources toward helping to desegregate the school system. 
26  Lovett, p. 30  Even by 1950 [four years before Brown v Board of Education of Topeka, Kansas, and 

three years before my father begins high school] thirty of Tennesseeôs ninety-five counties offered no high 

school education for Negro citizens.  
27 Lovett, p.133 
28 Lovett, p.107-109 
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do it, riots break out in Chattanooga, which is only 20 miles from Cleveland over the newly 

formed sit-in movement.   

 The war on civil rights was coming closer and closer to Cleveland whether the COG 

wanted it to or not.  But the young blacks of Cleveland (and their parents) had to ask themselves.  

ñHow do you stay in a warzone when you have no artillery to fight with?ò 

 My fatherôs answer was: ñYou donôt.ò 
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                     Figure 8.  Daddy bowling at the Harlem Lanes, 1962. 
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A Greyhound Bus: James  
 

 

 

We watch them catch buses in the evening, 

The black shadows of their backs 

The last we see of them. 

  ð Jacqueline Woodson 

 

Fall 1960 / Cleveland, Tennessee to Harlem, NYC 

The bus seemed like a good idea at the time. Hell, it was the only idea unless you had a 

car. Which he and Bubba didnôt. They hardly had the bus fare to get on the bus. But they did have 

a plan; they were going to New York City. And to make it even better, they were going to live with 

Bubbaôs aunt, Mrs. Pierce, in her apartment in Harlem! His dream was coming true! He would 

find work, he would see all his Jazz idols, heôd wear good clothes, heôd send Momma money, and 

she could come next, and stop working for those folks. She was already starting to stoop over 

some from being at the stove so much. 

But first theyôd have to take Gary back home. His nephew/brother who was 10 years 

younger and didnôt want him to leave. As they walked the long road to the bus depot his nephew 

Gary trailed behind.  

ñGo on back to Momma an óem Gar.ò  

ñNah, I wanna go with you!ò 

ñNah. Go on, now. Your momma and granmommaôll kill me they see you going to the 

depot with me. Go on.ò 

ñNo.ò 

ñGar. Cômon now. Iôm going, but Iôll be back.ò 

ñNo you wonôt. Tie-Dye, Richie, an óem didnôt come back.ò 

ñWell, I will. Then you can come back with me. But I gotta have a place for us first. And 

you a kid. Go on now.ò 
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ñNo.ò 

So they walked the mile back to 1st street where Momma was on the porch looking 

worried, and then looking angry when she saw him and Gary. 

ñBoy! Yoô momma and daddy losinô their minds over you. What you think you doing.ò 

ñGoing with JameWalta to see Harlem.ò 

 Yes! He was going to Harlem! But the only reason he was able to go was because Mrs. 

Pierce was a friend of Mommaôsðotherwise this enterprise of going to New York would have 

been nipped in the bud before it even got started. There werenôt many things James Walter feared 

or revered, but his mother was definitely one of them. And when she said no, it didnôt happen. It 

wasnôt that he was a mommaôs boy, but she just wasnôt usually wrong about these types of things. 

But this time he was determined to leave Cleveland, the white signs with the black letters telling 

him where to stand, sit, or drink were too much. And she must have known it. So she let him go 

this time. On this bus. If he had known what the bus was going to be like, Gotdamn! He might 

have walked!  

 Though the Greyhound was gleaming and silver on the outside as it sat ready to go up 

the highway towards New York, the inside was hot and clammy. The seats in the back were sticky 

and scratched. Some still smelled of the last body that had sat in it, and of course the bathroom 

was nearby. For someone trying to sleep in the back, the bad smell of the toilet was only matched 

by the annoying sound of the door opening and closing. And though he knew it was the price to 

pay for freedom, as he sat in his seat he thought to himself, ñThis the last time, Iôll ever take a 

Greyhound. And Iôll never ever sit in the back.ò 

 Twenty-two hours later and they were in another world. A new depot. In the middle of a 

city far from where they came from and far from where they still had to go. But he still smiled, he 

was finally in New York! He had Bubba, his bag, and his records and before he knew it he was on 

his first ride on a subway on his way up to Harlem and Mrs. Pierceôs apartment. He tried not to 

look too ñcountryò when he got on the ñAò train as they rode uptown, but he couldnôt stop 
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smiling and looking around at everything. He kept quiet. He didnôt want the other folks on the 

train to know he wasnôt a New Yorker. (Though later on heôd say that they probably knew 

already.) As the train sped up the tunnel he couldnôt stop thinking about Harlem! There heôd be 

able to go to the Apollo and see all the people he idolized. In Harlem there would be black folks 

doing things and saying things heôd only heard about on the radio. All the black folk who were in 

the movies or on the radio lived there. All the boxers had homes there, even Clay had a place 

there, and maybe heôd walk by one or two of those folks. And heôd be able to hear the music he 

loved instead of that Tennessee honky-tonk, or those drab Christian songs. The Jazz folks never 

did come South. He didnôt blame them. But now he was here, so it didnôt matter. No one in 

Cleveland was a Jazz man, but him. In New York, he knew heôd find people who would 

understand his obsession and not think him weird. He could hardly contain himself. But he had 

to. He looked to his right, he was with Bubba, and Bubba was, well, Bubba and he saw New York 

a lot differently. Bubba didnôt think there was any danger in New York. James Walter knew 

different, it was a ñpromised land,ò but even Eden had its snake. 

 He was the only one from his family to come. His brother-in-law couldnôt understand 

why ñWaltò didnôt just find something to do in Cleveland. Find a girl, he was 21 already. Time to 

start being a man.  Running behind Marshall or ñTie Dyeò going to New York when there were 

perfectly good jobs to be had at the paper mill. Marshall would have been set if heôd just come to 

work in the paper mill.   

 But he didnôt want to. 

 And neither did ñWalt.ò 

ñYouôll be back.ò  

ñThereôs nothing in New York.ò 

ñThose people there are evil.ò 

ñYou can work right here.ò 



 33 

But he canôt. Heôs tried to work right there. He canôt stomach working right there anymore. 

Fetching golf balls for judges and businessmen and having them calling him ñboyò until he was 

stooped over and clearly an old man. No, he canôt stay in Cleveland anymore. 

 So he left. Just like many of his friends who werenôt in the army. Bubba, Tie Dye, 

Raymond, they all took a Greyhound bus at one time or another. Leaving Cleveland. Some with 

small bags, paper bags, or no bags at all. But leaving just the same.  Leaving boyhood for 

something else. Too bad he only has ten dollars left. Heôll have to get a job quickly. But he knows 

one thing for sure. 

 The next time he goes back to Cleveland, heôll fly. 
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Figure 9. Postcard from Tennessee, courtesy of Rubenstein Library,  

Duke University 
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PART 3  
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Working Day and Night 

The New York of 1948 was a promised land for Blacks who were leaving the 

south,includingmy grandparents.  The era after the Second World War is one of prosperity in 

New York. The second influx of migrants to New York City is even larger than the one after the 

First World War. In New York, between 1940 and 1950 the black population increases in New 

York by 62 percent (rising from 458,000 in 1940 to 700,000 to 1948.)29  So while migrants came 

to New York City looking for economic prosperity, they also came looking for a social equality 

that is absent in the south. Adam Clayton Powell Jr. echoes this sentiment when he says that 

blacks ñwill be satisfied with nothing short of complete equityðpolitical, economic, educational, 

religious, and social.ò30 Yet, the city turns out not to be the ñpromised landò it was hoped to be. 

There is widespread and legal job discrimination that prevents many black men and women 

including my grandfather from getting jobs in the various defense plants in the New York area 

like Grumman.31 And while the North is supposed to be a place where not much discrimination 

exists, the reality is that racism is just as rampant and just as prevalent in ways that arenôt 

reported on in the same ways that they were in the South.32 

My grandfather who had always worked with his hands was forced to find jobs that used 

little of his intelligence and all of physical brawn. He was a janitor, a porter, and a super. 

Working from dawn to dusk. And while my grandmother did not have to work outside the home 

in South Carolina, for her New York was not as kind. Her limited skills as a teacher did not offer 

any sustainable work. Her schedule also had to be flexible to allow for my ailing uncleôs doctorôs 

appointments. So like many women she began doing dayôs work.  

                                                        
29 Biondi, Martha. p.3 
30 Biondi, p.1 
31 Biondi, p.3 
32 Biondi, p.81.  Biondi gives the example of Josephine Baker and her husband having to go to thirty-six 

hotels in New York before they were allowed to rent a room. Instead of the white signs with the black 

letters that said ñColoredò in the South, the phrase in New York for many businesses was, ñWe Prefer Not 

to Serve Negroes.ò 
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In New York City, when black women looked for dayôs work, especially in the Bronx 

many stood on street corners hoping someone would pick them up. It was no different than the 

South where white women who didnôt have money for a full time maid would come and ñhire 

outò women for the day. 33 The only thing that was different in the Bronx and other New York 

boroughs was that the women who hired were usually middle class Jewish, Italian and Polish 

women who lived in Westchester or Long Island. Many would come to ñhubsò and hire Black 

women for work.34 My grandmother was never one of the women theyôd hire, because she never 

stood on the corner for work. Her sisters-in-laws worked in the offices of men whose wives 

stayed at home and they always needed a housekeeper or a babysitter. My grandmother started 

small and eventually had her own clientele of middle class women who loved her services. And 

my grandmother was able to make her own hours.  

But her rules were simple. Just because you were a housekeeper didnôt mean you had to 

dress as one, so she always dressed as though she was going to tea instead of to her ñbusiness.ò 

Sheôd walk out on women who gave her clothes in lieu of cash for her services, and many times 

was called an uppity Negro. And her daughters and granddaughters were never to do this work. 

So when there were big jobs and a client would say, ñMal, you should ask one of your daughters 

or granddaughters to help you.ò Sheôd tell them, ñThis is my work. Theyôve got their own work to 

do.ò35 

The domestic work that female migrants do is rarely restricted to house cleaning. The 

move to the North for many black women was about caregiving and aiding the men and women 

who had already made the trip North. For my great-grandmother and many women like her, the 

need to help relatives adapt to living in the North or help with their daily lives was the reasons for 

their migration. My great aunts were all married and had children and needed someone to watch 

their children while they did dayôs work, or worked in office buildings. In Making a Way out of 

                                                        
33 Boehm, 147 
34 Boehm, 101 
35 Interview with Betty Goldsmith  
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No Way, female migrants tell their stories of why they left their homes to make the treks to ñthe 

promised landò and one of the primary reasons was to be a caregiver for children. In her story, 

Ester Woods cites her brotherôs need for help with his children when their mother goes into the 

hospital. ñAnd I came hereðfrankly, thatôs why I came hereðto help him with those kids.ò 36 

Long before the modern feminist movement, black women have outside jobs and are 

coming home to be wives and mothers in order to survive in their new world. Migrant women are 

working just as hard as men to make sure that the ñPromised Landò lives up to their dreams. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                        
36 Boehm, Lisa. Making a Way Out of Now Way. p. 98. 
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Figure 10.  Nana and Granddaddy (Harold & Malqueen) ~1968 

 

  


